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ABOUT US

VISION MISSION

TCC is a family-oriented Credit Co-operative. A not-for-profit financial 
institution, TCC provides members with a safe repository for savings and 

access to credit at affordable interest rates.

We care for the well-being of our members and their families. TCC provides 
attractive rates of interest on savings, investments and loans.

You will notice the difference from the first time you step into our office or call 
us. Our staff are caring and considerate, they treat you like family. You will find 

us willing to listen and flexible in our approach. We exist for one reason – to 
serve our members.

To be the First-Choice 
Credit 

Co-operative that 
provides innovative, 

fair and family-oriented 
financial services of 
quality and value.

Our mission based 
on our Co-operative 
values is to provide 

the best financial and 
related services to our 

members and their 
families.
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On behalf of the Board of Directors, Management and Staff 
of TCC Credit Co-operative Ltd, I am pleased to present the 
Annual Report for the Financial Year ended 2023.

Introduction
This year has been marked by significant achievements 
and advancements as we continue our journey toward 
excellence and sustainability. Reflecting on our performance 
and progress, I am proud to share the highlights of our 
cooperative’s activities and initiatives over the past year. 

Performance in 2023
I’m pleased to announce that in 2023, TCC Credit Co-
operative Ltd achieved commendable financial performance, 
demonstrating resilience and adaptability in the face of 
evolving economic challenges. Despite the hurdles, our 
cooperative sustained growth in both revenue and profitability, 
thanks to our prudent financial management practices and 
strategic investments. This has solidified our financial position 
and stability.

Furthermore, I am happy to report that as of December 2023, 
TCC’s membership stands at 41,411, accompanied by an 
uptick in loan disbursements. Additionally, we have recorded 
an operating net surplus of $2.3 million for the year, leading to 
a 3% dividend declaration for the Financial Year 2023.

CHAIRMAN’S REPORT

“ “

Transforming Lives, 
   Building Communities.

Member Engagement
Member engagement remains a top priority for us. Throughout 
2023, we fostered closer relationships with our members 
through various events and initiatives. These endeavours 
not only strengthened our relationship, but also provided 
valuable opportunities for learning and networking amongst 
our members. We urge members to follow us on our social 
media and subscribe to our monthly electronic direct mails 
(EDMs) for regular updates on upcoming events.

ESG Initiatives
As part of our Environmental, Social, and Governance 
(ESG) drive we have rolled out several initiatives to promote 
electronic transactions such as E-GIRO and Internet Banking 
(i-banking). We encourage members to utilise these digital 
platforms which not only reduce our environmental impact but 
improves efficiency and increase convenience for members.

We are going digital and will gradually cease printing of 
Annual Reports and Newsletters, opting to communicate 
with members through digital channels. We are gradually 
reducing our printing quantities and will cease printing of 
members’ Annual Statement of Accounts with effect from 
2025. Members can continue to review their Statement of 
Accounts by logging into their accounts through the Member 
Portal through the TCC website.
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CHAIRMAN’S REPORT

Conclusion 
I look forward to your support for the activities and programs 
that we are organising and we welcome your family members 
and friends to participate actively in these events.

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to our Advisors, 
Directors, and all our Staff for their unwavering support and 
dedication. I am confident that with our collective efforts and 
commitment, TCC Credit Co-operative Ltd will continue to 
prosper and serve with excellence. 

I thank you for your support and encouragement and look 
forward to an era of growth and prosperity for all. 

Warm regards, 

Shareef Bin Abdul Jaffar, PBS (Polis)
Chairman

Digitalisation of Back-end Processes 
All our back-end processes will be digitised in keeping with 
our digital transformation initiatives. In 2023, we continued 
to invest in upgrading our technology infrastructure and 
enhancing our digital capabilities. By digitising our operations, 
we have streamlined workflows, improved operational 
efficiency, and enhanced data security. These digital initiatives 
prepare us for future growth and innovation while providing 
our members a seamless and user-friendly experience. 

Acquisition of New Property 
I am delighted to announce that we have since acquired 
a new property located at No. 466, Serangoon Road. An 
Architect and a team of consultants have been engaged 
to assist in the Alterations and Addition (A&A) work. This 
strategic investment marks a significant milestone for our Co-
operative, and will help create additional revenue streams, To 
boost our surplus and ensure stable revenue streams that 
can be realised through rentals of our properties at Killiney 
Road.

Increase in Monthly Contribution 
The Board has decided to increase the monthly contributions 
for all members. Effective from May 2024, the cap on the 
maximum contribution into the Savings Account has been 
raised from $50 to $300, while the cap on the maximum 
contribution into the Subscription account has been increased 
from $10 to $300. Subscription accounts can attract a 
dividend of up to 3% annually. This increase in monthly 
contributions is in line with our core objective of promoting 
thrift amongst our members. 
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SECRETARY’S REPORT

Board Meetings

Twelve (12) Board meetings were held in the year 2023.  
The attendance record of the Board meetings is shown on 
Page 10.

External Auditors

RT LLP were appointed as External Auditors for the financial 
year 2023.

Audit Committee

There were 4 meetings held by the Audit Committee during 
the year 2023. The Audit Committee composition, appointed 
by the Board, and the meeting attendance is presented 
below:

Name Position
Meeting 
Attendance

Arunachalam Subramanian Chairman 4/4

Abuthahir Abdul Gafoor
Independent 
Member

4/4

Richard Tay
Independent 
Member

4/4

Luke Furler
Independent 
Member

2/4

Summary of Activities

During the inaugural meeting, Stamford Assurance PAC 
outlined the audit plan for the Financial Year 2022 and InCorp 
was confirmed as the Internal Auditors. The second meeting 
was held for Incorp to table the audit plan, timeline, and fees. 

During the third meeting, Stamford Assurance PAC provided 
an overview of the audit outcomes of Financial Year 2022. 
The last meeting was held to recommend RT LLP as the 
external auditors for the Financial Year 2023.

Minimum Liquidity Asset (MLA) & Capital Adequacy 
Ratio (CAR)

TCC’s MLA and CAR ratios for 2023 satisfy the prudential 
requirement set by the Registry of Co-operative Societies as 
stated below:   

  

Minimum Liquid Asset Ratio 50.64%

Capital Adequacy Ratio 13.79%

Common Good Fund Benefits
A sum of $159,950 was granted to members as follows:

Hospitalization Grant	 -	 $65,375
Benevolent Grant	 -	 $21,500
Loyal Membership Awards	 -	 $40,000
Scholarship and Bursary Awards	 -	 $21,250     
Baby Bonus	 - 	 $4,000  
Marriage Grant	 -	 $1,200
Wellness Basket	 -	 $6,625

Scholarship and Bursary Awards for 2023

One hundred and twenty-four awards, comprising sixty-
five Scholarship Awards and fifty-nine Bursary Awards were 
given to members’ children. The total value of the awards 
amounted to $21,250.00.
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SECRETARY’S REPORT

Loyal Membership Awards for 2023

Eighty lucky members with at least 25 years of loyal 
membership with TCC received $500.00 each being credited 
into their Super Savings account. 

2023 Other Activities 

The year 2023 brimmed with enthusiastic participation from 
our members in our events and activities! We’ve witnessed a 
noticeable rise in member engagement, drawing individuals 
from various backgrounds to come together, socialize, 
and have a great time. The diverse participation illustrated 
vibrancy making each event an epitome of unity and shared 
interests within our community.

Our hiking events have remained a consistently active and 
engaging interest group for many of our members. They 
enjoyed exploring different areas of Singapore together, 
fostering stronger bonds within our community. Trips to 
Sungei Buloh, Bukit Timah Nature Reserve have been 
particularly popular, attracting both new members and long-
standing participants. These hikes are meant to promote a 
healthy lifestyle as well as provide an opportunity for sparking 
discussions on benefits of being part of TCC and increasing 
interest in our activities. We welcome those with a passion 
for photography to join our Photography Interest Group and 
capture the vibrant moments of our hiking adventures.

The Toastmaster’s Interest Group, managed by the TCC 
Youth Committee, has witnessed a notable rise in interest 
and enthusiasm. We invite members who are eager to 
enhance their confidence in public speaking and elevate 
their leadership capabilities to join our Toastmasters Interest 
Group and embark on a journey of personal growth.

Our Women’s Lifestyle Interest Group has been actively 
engaged in organizing various events such as food distribution 
and sustainability outreach events aimed at supporting 
charitable causes as well as contributing to the betterment 
of our community. 

After 3 years, we held our 90th Annual General Meeting 
(AGM) and we finally got to reconnect with our members 
and remained grateful for the ongoing relationship. Looking 
ahead, let’s meet again in 2024, with details about our AGM 
at MDIS to be shared with members in due course.

Our free and professional Legal Clinic Sessions, held on 
the 3rd Saturday of each month, are in high demand, with 
available slots filling up rapidly on a first-come, first-served 
basis. These sessions serve as valuable resources for our 
members who require legal assistance or seeking information 
regarding their rights to make informed decisions. Members 
interested in seeking legal advice can schedule appointments 
by reaching out to us directly.

We want to express our sincere gratitude to our members for 
their unwavering support and loyalty. We are excited about 
strengthening our bonds within the community! Wishing you 
and your loved ones continued health and happiness.

Thank you

Maria B Amri
Secretary
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Mr Shareef Bin Abdul Jaffar,
PBS (Polis)
Chairman
•	 Establishment Committee, Chair
•	 Property Development Committee, Chair
•	 Rebranding Committee, Chair

Ms Maria B Amri
Secretary
•	 Membership & Events Committee, Chair
•	 Establishment Committee, Member
•	 Property Development Committee, 

Member

Mr Daniel Cher Choong Kiak, PBM
Treasurer
•	 Establishment Committee, Member
•	 Investment Committee, Member
•	 Marketing & Communications Committee, 

Member
•	 Property Development Committee, Member
•	 Youth Committee, Mentor

Mr Tan Geok Seng
Vice-Chairman
•	 Investment Committee, Chair
•	 Establishment Committee, Member
•	 Marketing & Communications Committee, Member
•	 Property Development Committee, Member
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Mr Joshua Benjamin
Director
•	 Membership & Events Committee, 

Member

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Mr Hamzah Bin Hj Abdul Karim
Director
•	 Membership & Events Committee, 
	 Member

Mr Santhanaram Jayaram
Director
•	 Marketing & Communications Committee, 

Chair
•	 Youth Committee, Mentor
•	 Rebranding Committee, Member

Mr Munusamy Rethinasingam
Director
•	 Membership & Events Committee, 

Member

Annual Report 2023     |     7 



Ms Helen Campos
Director
•	 Establishment Committee, Member
•	 Investment Committee, Member
•	 Property Development Committee, Member
•	 Rebranding Committee, Member

Ms Karen Ang Lee Kiang
Director
•	 Membership & Events Committee, 

Member
•	 Marketing & Communications 

Committee, Member
•	 Rebranding Committee, Member

Dr Arunachalam Subramanian
Director
•	 Audit Committee, Chair
•	 Property Development Committee, 

Member

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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ADVISORS

Mr Mahadevan Lushumayeh
Legal Advisor

Mr R.Ravindran
Advisor

Mr K. P. Munirathnam
Advisor

Mr Eric Cheong, BBM
Advisor
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YEAR IN REVIEWYEAR IN REVIEW

GOVERNANCE

The Board of Directors consists of directors who volunteer their time and expertise to uphold the Co-operative’s 
commitment to openness and transparency. The meeting attendance of the Board of Directors is presented below:

Name Position

2023

25 Jan

27 Feb

27 M
ar

24 A
p

ril

22 M
ay

26 Jun

19 Jul

23 A
ug

25 S
ep

25 O
ct

20 N
o

v

20 D
ec

Mr Shareef Bin Abdul Jaffar Chairman √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √

Mr Tan Geok Seng Vice-Chairman √ √ √ √ x √ √ √ √ √ √ √

Mr Daniel Cher Choong Kiak Treasurer √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √

Ms Maria B Amri Secretary √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √

Mr Hamzah Bin Abdul Karim Director √ √ √ x x √ √ √ √ x √ √

Mr Joshua Benjamin Director √ √ √ √ √ x √ √ √ √ √ √

Mr Santhanaram Jayaram Director √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √

Ms Karen Ang Director √ √ √ x √ √ √ √ √ √ √ x

Ms Helen Campos Director √ √ √ x √ √ √ √ x √ √ √

Dr Arunachalam Subramanian Director √ √ √ √ x √ √ √ √ √ √ √

Mr Munusamy Rethinasingam Director NA NA NA NA NA √ √ x √ √ √ √

 √ (Present) x (Absent) 

Changes to the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors co-opted one new Director, Mr Munusamy Rethinasingam, on 17 June 2023.

10     |     TCC Credit Co-operative 



YEAR IN REVIEW

EXTERNAL AUDITORS
RT LLP

INTERNAL AUDITORS
In.Corp Business Advisory Pte. Ltd.

LEGAL CONSULTANTS
Tito Isaac & Co LLP
John Law Chambers LLC

YEAR IN REVIEW

COMMITTEES

ESTABLISHMENT COMMITTEE

Shareef Bin Abdul Jaffar - Chair
Tan Geok Seng 
Daniel Cher Choong Kiak 
Maria B Amri 
Helen Campos

AUDIT COMMITTEE 

Arunachalam Subramanian - Chair
Abuthahir Abdul Gafoor
Richard Tay
Luke Furler

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

Tan Geok Seng – Chair
Daniel Cher Choong Kiak
Helen Campos 	

MEMBERSHIP & EVENTS COMMITTEE

Maria B Amri - Chair 
Joshua Benjamin  
Hamzah Bin Hj Abdul Karim 
Karen Ang Lee Kiang
Munusamy Rethinasingam

YOUTH COMMITTEE

Daryl Tan - Chair
Mohanaruby
Shobikar D/O Mahaendran
Lim Poh Ngo Jennifer
Lim Zhi Wang
Wong Shu Jun
Leu Fook Joy
B N B Diviyadhaarshini

Sharon Koh Xuan En
Santhanaram Jayaram - Mentor
M. Lukshumayeh - Mentor      
Daniel Cher Choong Kiak - Mentor

MARKETING & COMMUNICATIONS COMMITTEE 

Santhanaram Jayaram - Chair
Tan Geok Seng 
Daniel Cher Choong Kiak
Karen Ang Lee Kiang

PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE 

Shareef Bin Abdul Jaffar - Chair
Tan Geok Seng 
Daniel Cher Choong Kiak
Maria B Amri 
Helen Campos 
Arunachalam Subramaninan
Chua Cheng How - Advisor

REBRANDING COMMITTEE 

Shareef Bin Abdul Jaffar - Chair
Santhanaram Jayaram 
Karen Ang Lee Kiang
Helen Campos
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

BREAKDOWN OF ASSETS

Year
2019

$
2020

$
2021

$
2022

$
2023

$
Net Loan Portfolio   29,865,328   27,498,019   28,517,058   24,801,121   23,884,452 
Cash and cash equivalents   49,172,171   54,691,070   55,066,459   56,993,257   38,353,494 
Fixed Assets     5,165,522     5,388,070     5,339,886     5,297,808   24,590,549 
Investments     3,546,398     3,334,062     2,625,512     2,129,931     2,180,671 
Others        245,187        170,538        243,112        193,810          83,656 

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
Membership          43,030          42,347          41,952          41,827          41,411

$ $ $ $ $
Loans   29,865,328   27,498,019   28,517,058   24,801,121   23,884,452 
Deposits   75,529,906   78,637,644   79,438,416   77,551,625   75,735,338 

ANNUAL STATISTICS

As at 31st December 2023, our Restricted Investments amounted to $2,512,042 or 2.8% of the total assets as follows:

Restricted Investments As at 31st December 2023 As at 31st December 2022
S$ S$

a)	 Investment Property:
200, Jalan Sultan, Singapore 199018 360,171 373,351

b)	 Shares listed on SGX 1,010,671 959,931

c)	 Corporate bonds issued in Singapore and managed 
fund(s) with capital protection mandate NIL NIL

d)	 Shares in other Co-operatives 1,141,200 1,141,200

Total 2,512,042 2,475,482

YEAR IN REVIEW
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DEPOSITS

MEMBERSHIP

2019

2019
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YEAR IN REVIEW

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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Savings:

$47,218,016

Contribution to Central 
Co-operative Fund: 

$146,814

Subscription: 

$28,517,323

Income: 

$5,599,801
Surplus: 

$2,381,570

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

YEAR IN REVIEW
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Dividends to Members: 

$877,706

Number of Loans: 

544
Loan Amount Disbursed: 

$9,135,653

Loan Balance Outstanding: 

$27,970,078

Members: 

41,411

YEAR IN REVIEW
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LOAN DISBURSEMENT BY TYPE

Secured Against 
Savings 
 $91,322 

1% 
Secured Against 

Property 
 $14,284,165  

51%

Personal 
 $9,914,094  

36%

OUTSTANDING LOANS BY TYPE

Personal 
 $4,000,391  

44%

Education 
 $2,069,642  

22%

Secured Against 
Property 

 $2,252,800  

25%

Renovation 
 $721,498  

8%

Education 
 $1,674,378  

6%

Renovation 
 $2,045,133  

5%

Secured Against 
Savings 
 $52,308

1%

LOANS

YEAR IN REVIEW
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INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO INVESTMENT IN SHARES

RETURN ON INVESTMENTS

Subsidiary 
 $1,170,000  

43%

Investment 
Property 

$1,898,361 

5%
Other Co-operatives 

 $519,755  

19%

Shares
$2,700,426 

7%

Shares listed on SGX 
 $1,010,671  

38%

Fixed Deposit
$32,510,546 

88%

Fixed Deposit 
Interest 

 $1,317,964  

78%

Dividend from 
Shares 

 $84,025  

5%

Dividend from 
Subsidiary 
 $117,000  

7%

Rental Income 
 $179,000  

10%

INVESTMENTS

YEAR IN REVIEW
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Loyal Membership Award

$40,000

New Members

482
Annual Scholarship & Bursary 

Award to 124 students 

Hospitalisation Grant 

$65,375

MEMBERSHIP HIGHLIGHTS

YEAR IN REVIEW

$21,250
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Marriage Grant 

$1,200

Benevolent Grant 

$21,500
Wellness Basket

$6,625

Baby Bonus 

$4,000

MEMBERSHIP HIGHLIGHTS

YEAR IN REVIEW
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MINUTES OF THE 
NINETIETH 

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING



MINUTES OF THE NINETIETH ANNUAL 
GENERAL MEETING 
HELD ON SATURDAY, 17 JUNE 2023 AT MANAGEMENT DEVELOPMENT INSTITUTE OF 
SINGAPORE (MDIS) CAMPUS, 501 STIRLING ROAD, SINGAPORE 148951.
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MEMBERS PRESENT: 1,442  members 

There being a quorum, the Secretary, Ms. Maria Binte Amri called the meeting to order at 1.00 p.m.

NOTICE OF MEETING

The Secretary, Ms Maria Binte Amri, read the Notice of Meeting convening the 90th Annual General Meeting.

AGENDA 1: 

CHAIRMAN’S ADDRESS

The Chairman in his address welcomed everyone to TCC’s 90th Annual General Meeting. He was very pleased to be here, and 
on behalf of the Board of Directors, Management and Staff of TCC Credit Co-operative Limited, he thanked all our Members 
who have attended to witness the AGM proceedings.

The Chairman highlighted that three years had elapsed since the last physical Annual General Meeting, a period marked by the 
formidable challenge of the Covid-19 pandemic. As he looked around the hall, he was heartened to see many familiar faces, a 
testament to the enduring spirit of the community. He also emphasized that TCC Annual General Meeting transcended mere 
formalities; it was a reunion of sorts, where members reconnected with old friends, renewed ties, and forged new alliances.

The Chairman shared an overview of the Annual Report for the year 2022 and highlighted that the profound impact of Covid-19 
was acknowledged, as it had caused significant disruptions to the operations and business performance. However, the staff 
demonstrated remarkable resilience, swiftly adapting to meet the challenges head-on. It was recognized that the operating 
environment had undergone significant changes, ushering in a new era where adaptability was paramount for survival. Quoting 
Charles Darwin and Socrates, emphasis was placed on the importance of embracing change and focusing on building the 
future.

Expressions of gratitude were extended to those who played pivotal roles during this challenging period. Members were 
thanked for their unwavering loyalty and continuous support. The invaluable contributions of Member Representatives, staff, 
and the Board of Directors were also acknowledged.

MINUTES OF THE 
NINETIETH 

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING



MINUTES OF THE NINETIETH ANNUAL 
GENERAL MEETING 
HELD ON SATURDAY, 17 JUNE 2023 AT MANAGEMENT DEVELOPMENT INSTITUTE OF 
SINGAPORE (MDIS) CAMPUS, 501 STIRLING ROAD, SINGAPORE 148951.
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Despite the challenges faced in 2022, the Chairman shared that it was a year of commendable performance. Income streams 
stabilized to pre-pandemic levels, with an overall income of approximately $3.8 million and a net surplus of $1.1 million. 
Membership remained robust at 41,827, prompting the declaration of a 3% dividend for the year 2022. He also highlighted 
that encouragingly, the performance for the year 2023 to date also appeared promising.

The Chairman further highlighted on the co-operative’s continued health in terms of subscriptions, loans, and savings. A 
change in the management team was noted, led by the new General Manager, Mr. G. Kharthick, who was poised to lead the 
organization into a new era of growth.

The Chairman also pointed out that strategic investments in technology had transformed TCC into a technologically-driven 
cooperative, enhancing member engagement through digital platforms. Emphasis was placed on the importance of member 
engagement, with the introduction of the various interest groups such as, Hiking Group, Photography Group, Women’s Lifestyle 
Group and the Toastmasters group.

Looking ahead, TCC aimed to reposition itself as an innovative and vibrant cooperative, focused on building a vibrant community 
through engaging activities and events. Plans for a new home was also shared, which would provide ample space for business 
operations and event hosting, potentially generating additional income. It would also assist in housing the subsidiaries, namely 
SecureGuard Security Services Co-operative Ltd and Security Masters Pte Ltd under one roof which would also enable to 
share resources.

In conclusion, the Chairman shared that TCC’s commitment to growth and innovation remained unwavering as the organization 
actively sought out new opportunities for expansion and improvement.

The Chairman also extended his heartfelt thanks to the Advisors, Directors, and all the Staff for their unwavering efforts and 
support and shared that TCC extends its warmest wishes to the members and their families for the remainder of the year and 
beyond. He wished all members to stay healthy and safe until we convene again next year.

Thank you.



MINUTES OF THE NINETIETH ANNUAL 
GENERAL MEETING 
HELD ON SATURDAY, 17 JUNE 2023 AT MANAGEMENT DEVELOPMENT INSTITUTE OF 
SINGAPORE (MDIS) CAMPUS, 501 STIRLING ROAD, SINGAPORE 148951.
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AGENDA 2: 

TO ADOPT STANDING ORDERS

The Standing Orders of the 90th Annual General Meeting having been circulated was unanimously adopted on the proposal of 
Mr. A. K. Latchumanan and seconded by Mr. Lee Him Buan.

AGENDA 3: 

TO CONFIRM THE MINUTES OF THE 89TH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The Minutes of the 89th Annual General Meeting held on Saturday, 17 June 2023 having been circulated was taken as read and 
confirmed on the proposal of Mr. Kuppusamy s/o Maniyam and seconded by Mr. A. K. Latchumanan.

AGENDA 4: 

TO RECEIVE & ADOPT THE ANNUAL REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER 2022.

The Annual Report was unanimously adopted on the proposal of Mr. A. K. Latchumanan and seconded by Ms. Chandran Rajini

Mr. A. K. Latchumanan referred to financial highlights on Page 11 and commended on the performance of the loan portfolio, 
and requested clarification for the drop in loan portfolio in the year 2022. Chairman clarified that it was due to settlement of 
some of the Housing Loans during the year. 

Mr. A. K. Latchumanan also referred to Loans balance outstanding on Page 13 and requested clarification on the amount of 
loans in arrears. The General Manager clarified that the loans in arrears amounted to about $4 million.
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AGENDA 5: 

TO RECEIVE & ADOPT THE AUDITOR’S REPORT & STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR 2022

The Auditors’ Report and Statement of Accounts for the year 2022 having been previously circulated was deliberated on the 
proposal of Mr. A. K. Latchumanan and seconded by Mr. Salmani Bin Abdul Rahman and unanimously approved.

AGENDA 6: 

TO APPROVE THE APPROPRIATION OF PROFITS FOR THE YEAR 2022

It was unanimously agreed that a dividend of 3% be declared for the year 2022 together with the proposed appropriated 
surplus on the proposal of Ms. Hamidah and seconded by Ms. Chandran Rajini.

AGENDA 7: 

TO APPROVE THE PAYMENT OF HONORARIUM FOR THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS WHO ARE NOT IN RECEIPT 
OF ALLOWANCES

The House unanimously agreed to an honorarium of up to $75,000 be paid to the members of the Board being declared on 
the proposal of Mr. Charlie Cho Chai Huat and seconded by Ms. Tan Ah Hong Veronica.
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AGENDA 8: 

TO APPROVE THE ESTIMATE OF EXPENDITURE FOR THE YEAR 2023.

The Estimate of Expenditure for the year 2023 was unanimously approved on the proposal of Mr. Harold Desker and seconded 
by Ms. Janice Seah.

AGENDA 9: 

TO APPROVE MAXIMUM LIABILITY FOR THE YEAR 2023/2024

The Maximum liability of Savings and Subscriptions of $100,000,000.00 and loans of $80,000,000 was unanimously approved 
on the proposal of Mr. Michael Yeo and seconded by Mr. Charlie Cho Chai Huat.

AGENDA 10: 

TO DELEGATE THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS THE POWER TO APPOINT TCC’S INTERNAL AUDITORS FOR THE 
YEAR 2023/2024.

The House unanimously gave the mandate to the Board of Directors to appoint the Internal Auditors for the year 2023/2024 
on the proposal of Ms. Doris Ho and seconded by Ms. Daisy Rani Michael.
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AGENDA 11: 

TO DELEGATE THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS THE POWER TO APPOINT TCC’S EXTERNAL AUDITORS FOR THE 
YEAR 2023.

The House unanimously gave the mandate to the Board of Directors to appoint the External Auditors for the year 2023 on the 
proposal of Ms. M. Mohanaruby and seconded by Ms. Koo Mei Foong Susan.

AGENDA 12: 

TO RE-ELECT/ELECT MEMBERS TO SERVE ON THE BOARD

The Secretary announced that on the day of the Nomination, the following nominations were returned unopposed to the Board 
of Directors

Re-Elected
Mr Tan Geok Seng
Mr Joshua Benjamin

Elected 
Mr Munisamy Rethinasingam

The above members had been appointed as Directors of the Board of TCC Credit Co-operative for a term of THREE (3) years.

This was unanimously approved on the proposal of Mr. David Leong and seconded by Mr. Kuppusamy s/o Maniyam
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AGENDA 13: 

TO CONSIDER ANY OTHER BUSINESS 

1.	 Mr. A. K. Latchumanan praised the new appearance of the Annual Return, expressing appreciation to the Chairman for 
initiating this change in the design and color scheme.

2.	 Additionally, Mr. A. K. Latchumanan remarked that the staff at the TCC office are exceptionally helpful and attentive 
whenever he reaches out.
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CONCLUSION

On behalf of the Board of Directors, the Chairman thanked all members present for their everlasting support, loyalty and 
faith in TCC.

There being no other matters, the meeting ended at 1.45 p.m.

Recorded by			   Verified by

Wendy Oh		  Maria Binte Amri
Recording Secretary		  Secretary
Date:				    Date:

Confirmed by

Shareef Bin Abdul Jaffar, PBS (Polis)
Chairman 
Date:



FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023



MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE’S REPORT
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

TCC CREDIT CO-OPERATIVE LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE’S REPORT 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 

         Page 1 

In the opinion of the Management Committee, 

(i) the accompanying financial statements of the TCC Credit Co-Operative Limited (the “Co-Operative") and
its subsidiaries (the "Group") are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of
the Co-Operative and of the Group as at 31 December 2023 and of the financial performance, changes
in funds and reserves and cash flows of the Group for the financial year ended on that date;

(ii) at the date of this statement there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Group and Co-Operative
will be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due; and

(iii) the receipt, expenditure, investment of monies and the acquisition and disposal of assets by the Co-
Operative during the financial year ended 31 December 2023 are, in all material respects, in accordance
with the provisions of the Co-Operative Societies Act, Chapter 62 and the By-Laws of the Co-Operative;

On behalf of the Management Committee 

_______________________ 
Shareef Bin Abdul Jaffar 
Chairman 

_______________________ 
Daniel Cher Choong Kiak 
Treasurer 

Date: 
Singapore 
Date: 3 May 2024
Singapore
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  
TO THE MEMBERS OF TCC CREDIT CO-OPERATIVE LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES  
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 
 
Report on the audit of the financial statements 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the financial statements of TCC Credit Co-Operative Limited (the "Co-
Operative") and its subsidiaries (the "Group"), which comprise the consolidated statement 
of financial position of the Group and the statement of financial position of the Co-operative 
as at 31 December 2023, and the statement of comprehensive income of the Co-operative, 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in 
funds and reserves and consolidated statement of cash flows of the Group for the year 
then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including material accounting policy 
information.  

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements are properly drawn up in 
accordance with the provisions of the Co-Operative Societies Act 1979 (“the Act”), and 
Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“FRSs”) so as to give a true and fair view of the 
state of affairs of the Group and the Co-operative as at 31 December 2023 and of the 
results of the Group and the Co-operative, consolidated changes in funds and reserves 
and consolidated cash flows of the Group and for the year ended on that date. 

Basis of Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (“SSAs”). 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are 
independent of the Group and the Co-Operative in accordance with the Accounting and 
Corporate Regulatory Authority (“ACRA”) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for 
Public Accountants and Accounting Entities (“ACRA Code”) together with the ethical 
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and 
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements 
and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Other matter  

The financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2022 were audited by 
another firm of auditors who issued an unmodified opinion on those financial statements 
in their report dated 22 May 2023. 

Other information 

Management is responsible for the other information contained in the annual report. Other 
information is defined as all information in the annual report other than the financial 
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. 
 
We have obtained all other information prior to the date of this auditor’s report. 
 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONT’D) 
TO THE MEMBERS OF TCC CREDIT CO-OPERATIVE LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES  
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 
 
Report on the audit of the financial statements (Cont’d) 
 
Other information (Cont’d) 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have 
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report 
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 
Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the financial statements  
 
Management is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with the provisions of the Act and FRSs, for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s and the Co-
Operative’s ability to continue as going concerns, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern 
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or 
the Co-Operative or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Those charged with governance’s responsibilities include overseeing the Group’s and the Co-Operative’s 
financial reporting process. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high-level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Group’s and the Co-operative’s internal control. 
 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONT’D)
TO THE MEMBERS OF TCC CREDIT CO-OPERATIVE LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

Report on the audit of the financial statements (Cont’d)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements (Cont’d)

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s and the Co-operative’s ability to continue as
going concerns. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group or the Co-
Operative to cease to continue as going concerns.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirement

During the course of our audit, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that during the 
financial year:

(a) proper accounting and other records have not been kept by the Co-operative and by those subsidiaries
corporations incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditor; and

(b) the receipt, expenditure, investment of money and the acquisition and disposal of assets by the Co-
Operative during the year have not been in accordance with the By-Laws of the Co-operative and the
provisions of the Act and the Co-operative Societies Rules 2009 (“the Rules”).

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Lau Foo Me.

RT LLP
Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants
Singapore, 3 May 2024
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TCC CREDIT CO-OPERATIVE LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2023

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. Page

Group Co-Operative
Note 2023 2022 2023 2022

$ $ $ $

AND LIABILITIES
4 28,517,323 29,442,169 28,517,323 29,442,169

Reserve fund 5 2,724,226 2,724,226 2,650,197 2,650,196
Common good fund 6 637,088 488,881 637,088 488,881
General fund 13,327,655 12,111,873 9,711,101 8,735,451

45,206,292 44,767,149 41,515,709 41,316,697
Non-controlling interest 59,088 57,687 - -

45,265,380 44,824,836 41,515,709 41,316,697

LIABILITIES
Non-current liability
Deferred tax liability 16 55,342 55,342 - -
Total non-current liability 55,342 55,342 - -

Current liabilities
7 47,218,015 48,109,456 47,218,015 48,109,456

Central Co-Operative fund contribution 8 165,838 208,325 146,814 190,433
Lease liability 25 16,448 43,501 - -
Other liabilities 9 1,051,159 987,626 732,039 569,096
Total current liabilities 48,451,460 49,348,908 48,096,868 48,868,985
Total liabilities 48,506,802 49,404,250 48,096,868 48,868,985

liabilities 93,772,182 94,229,086 89,612,577 90,185,682

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 10 22,593,343 3,236,337 22,554,743 3,163,849
Intangible assets 11 474,982 563,657 137,445 222,418
Investment properties 12 1,898,361 1,911,541 1,898,361 1,911,541
Right-of-use assets 13 15,924 43,224 - -
Financial assets 14 1,010,671 959,931 1,010,671 959,931
Investment in subsidiaries 15 - - 1,170,000 1,170,000
Investment in other Co-operatives 14 519,755 769,755 519,755 769,755
Goodwill 16 686,972 686,972 - -
Loans to members 18 16,624,746 17,694,445 16,624,746 17,694,445
Total non-current assets 43,824,754 25,865,862 43,915,721 25,891,939

Current assets
Loans to members 18 7,259,706 7,106,676 7,259,706 7,106,676
Trade and other receivables 17 905,193 1,381,353 83,656 193,810
Cash and cash equivalents 19 41,782,529 59,875,195 38,353,494 56,993,257
Total current assets 49,947,428 68,363,224 45,696,856 64,293,743

Total assets 93,772,182 94,229,086 89,612,577 90,185,682

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2023

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. Page

Group
Note 2023 2022

$ $

Revenue 20 8,329,200 8,685,508
Interest expenses (59,740) (61,286)

8,269,460 8,624,222
Cost of service (4,359,137) (5,540,074)
Other income 21 2,824,374 1,647,686
Total income 6,734,697 4,731,834

24 (1,857,522) (1,787,251)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 10 (77,209) (88,984)
Amortisation of intangible asset 11 (88,675) (82,212)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 13 (27,300) (11,375)
Depreciation of investment properties 12 (13,180) (13,180)
Other expenses 22 (2,006,421) (1,405,969)
Surplus before Contribution to Central Co-Operative Fund 2,664,390 1,342,863
Contribution to Central Co-Operative Fund (157,501) (199,987)
Surplus after contribution 2,506,889 1,142,876
Other comprehensive income:
Common Good Fund expenses 6 (151,793) (185,319)

(151,793) (185,319)
Total comprehensive income for the financial year 2,355,096 957,557

Surplus attributable to:
Owners of the Co-Operative 2,505,488 1,142,422
Non-controlling interests 1,401 454

2,506,889 1,142,876

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the Co-Operative 2,353,695 957,103
Non-controlling interests 1,401 454

2,355,096 957,557
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TCC CREDIT CO-OPERATIVE LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. Page

Co-Operative
Note 2023 2022

$ $

Revenue 20 3,086,782 2,423,507
Interest expense (59,740) (61,286)

3,027,042 2,362,221
Other income 2,513,019 1,444,202
Total income 5,540,061 3,806,423

Expenses
(1,194,216) (1,101,817)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 10 (37,134) (45,513)
Amortisation of intangible asset (84,973) (79,393)
Depreciation of investment properties 12 (13,180) (13,180)
Other expenses (1,828,988) (1,242,355)
Surplus before Contribution to Central Co-Operative Fund 2,381,570 1,324,165
Contribution to Central Co-Operative Fund 8 (146,814) (190,433)
Surplus for the financial year 2,234,756 1,133,732

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

TCC CREDIT CO-OPERATIVE LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FUNDS AND RESERVES 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. Page

Attributable to the Members of the Co-Operative

Group subscriptions Reserve fund Common 
Good Fund General fund Total

Non-
controlling 

interest
Total

2023 Note $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Balance as at 1 January 2023 29,442,169 2,724,226 488,881 12,111,873 44,767,149 57,687 44,824,836
Surplus for the financial year - - - 2,505,488 2,505,488 1,401 2,506,889
Additions during the year 4 2,493,997 - - - 2,493,997 - 2,493,997
Withdrawals during the year 4 (3,418,843) - - - (3,418,843) - (3,418,843)
Transfer to common good fund 6 - - 300,000 (300,000) - - -
Common Good Fund 6 - - (151,793) - (151,793) - (151,793)
Honorarium fee - - - (112,000) (112,000) - (112,000)
Dividends 23 - - - (877,706) (877,706) - (877,706)

Balance as at 31 December 2023 28,517,323 2,724,226 637,088 13,327,655 45,206,292 59,088 45,265,380

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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TCC CREDIT CO-OPERATIVE LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

CO-OPERATIVE STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FUNDS AND RESERVES (CONTINUED)
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. Page

Attributable to the Members of the Co-Operative

Group subscriptions Reserve fund Common 
Good Fund General fund Total

Non-
controlling 

interest
Total

2022 Note $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Balance as at 1 January 2022 30,769,480 2,724,226 474,200 12,060,748 46,028,654 57,233 46,085,887
Surplus for the financial year - - - 1,142,422 1,142,422 454 1,142,876
Additions during the year 4 2,496,579 - - - 2,496,579 - 2,496,579
Withdrawals during the year 4 (3,823,890) - - - (3,823,890) - (3,823,890)
Transfer to common good fund 6 - - 200,000 (200,000) - - -
Common Good Fund 6 - - (185,319) - (185,319) - (185,319)
Honorarium fee - - - (142,000) (142,000) - (142,000)
Dividends 23 - - - (749,297) (749,297) - (749,297)

Balance as at 31 December 2022 29,442,169 2,724,226 488,881 12,111,873 44,767,149 57,687 44,824,836

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN 
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. Page 1

Group
Note 2023 2022

$ $
Cash flows from operating activities
Surplus before contribution 2,664,387 1,342,863
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 10 77,209 88,984
Amortisation of intangible assets 11 88,675 82,212
Depreciation of investment properties 12 13,180 13,180
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 13 27,300 11,375
Write-off of right-of-use asset 25 - 25,200
Loss on fair value through financial assets 14 - 59,974
Gain on fair value through financial assets (37,913) -
Gain on disposal of financial assets 14 (1,272,673) (133,555)
Interest expense on lease liabilities 25 1,639 857
Operating cash flows before working capital changes 1,561,804 1,491,090
Changes in working capital:
Trade and other payables 36,480 177,584
Loans to members 18 916,669 3,715,937
Trade and other receivables 476,160 (91,112)
Cash generated from operations 2,991,113 5,293,499

7 10,557,892 10,823,320
7 (11,449,333) (11,382,800)

Honorarium paid (112,000) (142,000)
Payments to Central Co-Operative Fund (199,987) (215,415)
Net cash generated from operating activities 1,787,686 4,376,604

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 10 (19,434,215) (37,859)
Purchase of right-of-use asset 13 - (54,599)
Purchase of Intangible asset 11 - (85,836)
Purchase of financial assets 14 (22,711) (200,593)
Proceeds on disposal of financial assets 1,272,673 -
Sale of investment in Co-operative 259,884 -
Fixed deposit 21,327,139 (40,633,707)
Net cash used in / generated from investing activities 3,402,770 (41,012,594)

Cash flows from financing activities
Interest paid on lease liabilities 25 (1,639) (857)
Dividends paid to members 23 (877,706) (749,297)
Proceed from members' subscription 4 2,493,997 2,496,579
Withdrawal of members' subscription 4 (3,418,843) (3,823,890)
Common Good Fund 6 (151,793) (185,319)
Net cash used in financing activities (1,955,984) (2,262,784)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 3,234,472 (38,898,774)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year 19 5,086,415 43,985,189
Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year 19 8,320,887 5,086,415
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TCC CREDIT CO-OPERATIVE LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTE TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 2023

Page 1

These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial 
statements.

1. GENERAL

The Co-Operative is incorporated and registered in Singapore under the Co-Operative Societies Act,
Chapter 62. The address of its registered office and principal place of business is at 95 Killiney Road,
Singapore 239537.

The principal activities of the Group are to engage in promoting co-operation and self-help, encourage
thrift, to receive deposits from members and to assist members to reduce the cost of living and improve
their economic position.

The financial statements of the Group for the financial year ended 31 December 2023 were authorised
for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Management Committee on the date of Management

The principal activities of its subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 16.

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

2.1 Basis of preparation

The financial statements of the Group have been drawn up in accordance with Financial Reporting
Standards in Singapore (FRSs). The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost
basis except as disclosed in the accounting policies below

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with FRS requires management to exercise

accounting estimates and assumptions. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity,
or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in
Note 3.

The financial statements are presented in Singapore Dollars ($), which is the Co-Operative
currency.
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NOTE TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

2.2 Adoption of new and amended standards and interpretations

Standards issued but not yet effective

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following standards that were issued but
not yet effective, and have not been adopted early in these financial statements:

Description Effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after

Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-1: Classification of Liabilities as 
Current or Non-current

1 January 2024*

Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-1: Non-current Liabilities with 
Covenants

1 January 2024

Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-7 and SFRS(I) 7: Supplier Finance 
Arrangements

1 January 2024

Amendments to SFRS(I) 16: Lease Liability in a Sale and 
Leaseback

1 January 2024

Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-21: Lack of Exchangeability
Amendments to SFRS(I) 10 and SFRS(I) 1-28: Sale or 
Contribution of Assets between and Investor and its Associate or 
Joint Venture

1 January 2025
To be determined

The mandatory effective date of this Amendment had been revised from 1 January 2022 to 1 January 
2023 by the ASC in July 2020 via Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-1: Classification of Liabilities as Current 
or Non-current Deferral of Effective Date and further revised to 1 January 2024 in December 2022 via 
Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-1: Non-current Liabilities with Covenants.

Consequential amendments were also made to various standards as a result of these new or revised 
standards. 

Management anticipates that the adoption of the above standards, if applicable in future periods, will 
not have a material impact on the financial statements of the Group in the period of their initial adoption.

2.3 Basis of consolidation and business combinations

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Co-Operative and its 
subsidiaries as at the end of the reporting period. The financial statements of the subsidiaries used in 
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are prepared for the same reporting date as 
the Co-Operative. Consistent accounting policies are applied to like transactions and events in similar 
circumstances.

All intra-group balances, income and expenses, unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-group 
transactions and dividends are eliminated in full.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Co-Operative
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases. 

Losses within subsidiaries are attributed to the non-controlling interest even if that results in a deficit 
balance. 
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

2.3 Basis of consolidation and business combinations (Continued)

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction. If the Co-Operative loses control over a subsidiary, it:

- de-recognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary at their carrying
amounts at the date when control is lost;

- de-recognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest;

- de-recognises the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;

- recognises the fair value of the consideration received;

- recognises the fair value of any investment retained;

- re-classifies the Group
to profit or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate.

Business combination

Business combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition method. Identifiable assets 
acquired, and liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at 
the acquisition date. Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses in the periods in which the 
costs are incurred and the services are received.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised at fair value at the 
acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is deemed 
to be an asset or liability, will be recognised in profit or loss.

Transactions with non-controlling interests 

Non-controlling interest represents the equity in subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly, to 
owners of the Group.

Changes in the Group
accounted for as equity transactions. In such circumstances, the carrying amounts of the controlling 
and non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the 
subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interest is adjusted and the 
fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognized directly in equity and attributed to owners 
of the Group
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

2.4 Revenue and expense recognition

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for transferring promised goods or services to a customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf of
third parties.

Revenue is recognised when the Group satisfies a performance obligation by transferring a promised
good or service to the customer, which is when the customer obtains control of the good or service. A
performance obligation may be satisfied at a point in time or over time. The amount of revenue
recognised is the amount allocated to the satisfied performance obligation.

(i) Interest income and expense

recognized based on the contractual rates. The interest
recognized based on contractual rates.

(ii) Administrative fee income and charges

Administrative fee income is recognized when the services are rendered. The charges for late
payments and GIRO rejections are recognized upon the occurrence of the default.

(iii) Dividend income

Dividend income from financial assets and subsidiaries are recognized when the right to receive
payment is established.

(iv) Rental income

Rental income on tenanted areas of the buildings owned by the Group is recognized as revenue
on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

(v) Rendering of services

Revenue is recognized when services are billed which generally coincides with the delivery and
acceptances by clients.

(vi) Grants

Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received, and all attaching conditions will be complied with. Where the grant relates to an asset,
the fair value is recognised as deferred capital grant on the statement of financial position and is
amortised to profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual
installments.

Where loans or similar assistance are provided by governments or related institutions with an
interest rate below the current applicable market rate, the effect of this favorable interest is
regarded as additional government grant

(vii) Interest Income on fixed deposits

Interest income is recognized using the effective interest method.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

2.5 Property, plant and equipment

All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Subsequent to recognition,
property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses. The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its purchase price
and any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to
be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. Dismantlement, removal or restoration
costs are included as part of the cost of property, plant and equipment if the obligation for dismantlement,
removal or restoration is incurred as a consequence of acquiring or using the property, plant and
equipment. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate depreciable amounts
over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful lives are as follow.

Useful lives

Buildings 10 - 12 years
Property improvements 5 years
Computers 5 years
Furniture and fixtures 3 5 years
Office equipment 5 years

The residual value, useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting 
period, and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate. 

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic 
benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on derecognition of the asset is included 
in profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised.

2.6        Impairment of non-financial assets excluding goodwill

At the end of each financial year, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its nonfinancial assets to 
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any 
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent 
of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an 
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the 
asset belongs.  

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested 
for impairment annually, and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. 

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to 
sell and its value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to 
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the asset.  

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying 
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. 
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a 
revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.  
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

2.6 Impairment of non-financial assets excluding goodwill (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash generating
unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset (cash generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in
which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

2.7 Intangible asset

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of a subsidiary or business represents the excess of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the acquisition date fair value
of any previously held equity interest in the acquiree over the acquisition date fair value of the identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the subsidiary recognised at the date of acquisition.

Goodwill on subsidiary is recognised separately as intangible assets. Goodwill is initially recognised at cost
and subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Cash generating units to which goodwill has
been allocated are tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the
unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount
of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to
the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset
in the unit. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are identified and recognised separately from
goodwill if the assets and their fair values can be measured reliably. The cost of such intangible assets is
their fair value as at the acquisition date.

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination are reported at
cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as
intangible assets acquired separately.

Computer software licences

Acquired computer software licences are initially recognised at cost which includes the purchase price
(net of any discounts and rebates) and other directly attributable costs of preparing the software for its
intended use. Direct expenditure which enhances or extends the performance of computer software
beyond its expenditure which can be reliably measured is added to the original cost of the software.
Costs associated with maintaining computer software are recognised as a expense as incurred.

Computer software licences are subsequently carried ay cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses. These costs are amortised losses. These costs are amortised to profit
or loss using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives of 3 years.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

2.8 Financial assets

The Group recognises a financial asset or a financial liability in its statement of financial position when,
and only when, the Group becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

(a) Financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets into one of the categories below, depending on the

the cash flows of the financial asset. The Group shall reclassify its affected financial assets
when and only when the Group changes its business model for managing these financial assets.
Other than financial assets in a qualifying hedging relationship, the Group's accounting policy
for each category is as follows:

Amortised cost

These assets arise principally from the provision of goods and services to customers (e.g. trade
receivables), but also incorporate other types of financial assets where the objective is to hold
these assets in order to collect contractual cash flows and the contractual cash flows are solely
payments of principal and interest. They are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction
costs that are directly attributable to their acquisition or issue, and are subsequently carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less provision for impairment. Interest
income from these financial assets is included in interest income using the effective interest
rate method.

Impairment provisions for trade receivables are recognised based on the simplified approach
within SFRS(I) 9 using the lifetime expected credit losses. During this process, the probability
of the non-payment of the trade receivables is assessed. This probability is then multiplied by
the amount of the expected loss arising from default to determine the lifetime expected credit
loss for the trade receivables. For trade receivables, which are reported net, such provisions
are recorded in a separate provision account with the loss being recognised within
administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. On
confirmation that the trade receivable will not be collectable, the gross carrying value of the
asset is written off against the associated provision.

Impairment provisions for receivables from related parties and loans to related parties are
recognised based on a forward-looking expected credit loss model. The methodology used to
determine the amount of the provision is based on whether at each reporting date, there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition of the financial asset. For those
where the credit risk has not increased significantly since initial recognition of the financial asset,
twelve month expected credit losses along with gross interest income are recognised. For those
for which credit risk has increased significantly, lifetime expected credit losses along with the
gross interest income are recognised. For those that are determined to be credit impaired,
lifetime expected credit losses along with interest income on a net basis are recognised.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

2.8 Financial assets (Continued)

(a) Financial assets (Continued)

From time to time, the Group elects to renegotiate the terms of trade receivables due from
customers with which it has previously had a good trading history. Such renegotiations will lead
to changes in the timing of payments rather than changes to the amounts owed and, in
consequence, the new expected cash flows are discounted at the original effective interest rate
and any resulting difference to the carrying value is recognised in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income (operating profit).

The Group's financial assets measured at amortised cost comprise trade and other receivables
and cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group has a number of strategic investments in listed and unlisted entities which are not
accounted for as subsidiaries, associates or jointly controlled entities. For those equity
investments, the Group has made an irrevocable election to classify the investments at fair
value through other comprehensive income rather than through profit or loss as the Group
considers this measurement to be the most representative of the business model for these
assets. They are carried at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the fair value through other comprehensive income
reserve. Upon disposal, any balance within fair value through other comprehensive income
reserve is reclassified directly to retained earnings and is not reclassified to profit or loss.

Dividends are recognised in profit or loss, unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of
part of the cost of the investment, in which case the full or partial amount of the dividend is
recorded against the associated investments carrying amount.

Purchases and sales of financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income are recognised on settlement date with any change in fair value between trade date
and settlement date being recognised in the fair value through other comprehensive income
reserve.

Subsequent measurement

Investments in debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the business model for
managing the asset and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the asset. The three
measurement categories for classification of debt instruments are amortised cost, FVOCI and
FVPL. The Group only has debt instruments at amortised cost.

Financial assets that are held for the collection of contractual cash flows where those cash
flows represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost.
Financial assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the assets are derecognised
or impaired, and through the amortisation process.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

2.8 Financial assets (Continued)

(a) Financial assets (Continued)

Investments in equity instruments

On initial recognition of an investment in equity instrument that is not held for trading, the Group
may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value in other comprehensive
income which will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss. Dividends from such
investments are to be recognised in profit or loss when the right to receive payments
is established. For investments in equity instruments which the Group has not elected to
present subsequent changes in fair value in other comprehensive income, changes in fair value
are recognised in profit or loss.

Derecognition

A financial asset is derecognised where the contractual right to receive cash flows from the
asset has expired. On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between
the carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and any cumulative gain or loss
that had been recognised in other comprehensive income for debt instruments is recognised in
profit or loss.

(b) Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are recognised when, and only when, the Group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the financial instrument. The Group determines the classification of
its financial liabilities at initial recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus in the case of financial liabilities
not at FVPL, directly attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement

After initial recognition, financial liabilities that are not carried at FVPL are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised, and through the amortisation
process.

Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled or expires. On derecognition, the difference between the carrying amounts and the
consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss.

2.9 Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments not held 
at FVPL. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance 
with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an 
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows 
from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

2.9 Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default 
events that are possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for 
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is 
recognised for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of timing of 
the default (a lifetime ECL).

For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore, the 
Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognizes a loss allowance based on lifetime 
ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical 
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic 

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 30 days past due. 
However, in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal 
or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual 
amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset 
is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

2.10 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at banks and on hand which are subject to an insignificant 
risk of changes in value. These also include bank overdrafts that form an integral part of the 
cash management. 

2.11 General Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result 
of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required 
to settle the obligation and the amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably. Provisions are 
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. If it is no 
longer probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle the obligation, the 
provision is reversed. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted 
using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When 
discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance 
cost.

2.12 Leases 

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the 
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for 
consideration.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

2.12 Leases (Continued)

(a) As lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities
representing the obligations to make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying leased assets.

Right-of-use assets

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e. the date
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial
direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any
lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful lives of the assets.

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group at the end of the lease term or the cost
reflects the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful
life of the asset. The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the
present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable,
variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid
under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a
purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for
terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate.
Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expenses
(unless they are incurred to produce inventories) in the period in which the event or condition that
triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate
at the lease commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect
the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a
change in the lease payments (e.g. changes to future payments resulting from a change in an
index or rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change in the assessment of an option
to purchase the underlying asset. The lease liabilities are presented in Note 21.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

2.12 Leases (Continued)

(a) As lessee (Continued)

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of
machinery (i.e., those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the lease of low-value assets
recognition exemption to leases of office equipment that are considered to be low value. Lease
payments on short-term leases and leases of low value assets are recognised as expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

(b) As lessor

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an asset are classified as operating leases. Rental income arising from operating
leases on the investment properties is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the
lease terms. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added
to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same basis
as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period in which they are
earned.

2.13 Income taxes

(a) Current income tax

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at
the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authority. The tax rates
and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date.

Current income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that the tax relates
to items recognised outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect
to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes
provisions where appropriate.

(b) Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the end of the
reporting date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for
financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply
in the year when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists
to set off current income tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred
taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

2.13 Income taxes (Continued)

(c) Goods and services tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST except:

where the GST incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the
taxation authority, in which case the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition
of the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and

receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of GST included.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included 
as part of receivables or payables in the statement of financial position.

2.14 Investment properties

Investment properties are initially recognised at cost and subsequently measured at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

The cost of investment properties includes capitalisation of borrowing costs for the purchase, renovation 
and extension of the investment properties while these activities are in progress. For this purpose, the 
interest rates applied to funds provided for the development are based on the actual interest rates 
payable on the borrowings such development.

Investment properties are subject to renovations or improvements at regular intervals. The cost of major 
renovations and improvements is capitalised and the carrying amounts of the replaced components are 
written-off to the income statement. The cost of maintenance, repairs and minor improvements is 
charged to the income statement when incurred.

Properties that are being constructed or developed for future use as investment properties are classified 
as investment properties. Where the fair value of the investment properties under construction or 
development cannot be reliably measured, the property is measured at cost until the earlier of the date 
the construction is completed or the date at which fair value becomes reliably measurable.

On disposal of investment properties, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and its carrying 
amount is taken to the income statement.

2.15 Investments in subsidiaries

Investment in subsidiaries is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses in the Co-Operative's 
statement of financial position. On disposal of such investments, the difference between disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amounts of the investment are recognized in profit or loss.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

2.16 Employee benefits 

Employee benefits are recognized as an expense, unless the cost qualifies to be capitalized as an asset.

(i) Defined contribution plans

The Group makes contributions to the Central Provident Fund scheme in Singapore, a defined
contribution pension scheme. Contributions to defined contribution pension schemes are
recognized as an expense in the period in which the related service is performed.

(ii) Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are
expensed as the related service is provided. A liability is recognized for the amount expected
to be paid if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a
result of past service provided by the employee, and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

(iii) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated undiscounted liability for annual leave expected to be settled
wholly within 12 months after the end of reporting period as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of the reporting period.

2.17 Dividends expenses

appropriation in the next financial year. Dividends are recognized when the dividends are approved for 
payment.

2.18 Related parties

A party is related to an entity if:

(a) Group
if that person:

(i) Has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) Has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) Is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of parent of the Group;
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

2.18 Related parties (Continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Co-Operative if any of the following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the same Group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others);

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a Group of which the other entity is a member);

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party;

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third party and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a plan, the sponsoring
employers are also related to the Group;

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a);

(vii) A person identified in (a) (i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

2.19 Foreign currency transactions and translation

In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies other than the 

At the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at 
the rates prevailing as of the end of the reporting period. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are 
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value 
was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency 
are not retranslated. 

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on retranslation of monetary items 
are included in profit or loss for the period. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the period except for differences arising 
on the retranslation of nonmonetary items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised directly in 
equity. For such non-monetary items, any exchange component of that gain or loss is also recognised 
directly in equity. 

3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES, ASSUMPTIONS AND JUDGMENTS

and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities at the end of each reporting period. Uncertainty about these assumptions
and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the
asset or liability affected in the future periods.
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3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES, ASSUMPTIONS AND JUDGMENTS (Continued)

3.1 Judgments made in applying accounting policies

The management is of the opinion that there are no significant judgments made in applying accounting
estimates and policies that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

3.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the financial year are discussed below. The Group based its assumptions and estimates on
parameters available when the financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and
assumptions about future developments, however, may change due to market changes or
circumstances arising beyond the control of the Group. Such changes are reflected in the assumptions
when they occur.

(a) Provision for expected credit losses of loan to members and trade and other receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for loan receivables. The provision rates
are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss
patterns.

The provision matrix is initially based on the Grou historical observed default rates. The Group
will calibrate the matrix to adjust historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information.
At every reporting date, historical default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking
estimates are analyzed.

The assessment of the correlation between historical observed default rates, forecast economic
conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in
circumstances and of forecast economic conditions. The Group historical credit loss

actual default in the future. The information about the ECLs on the Group and Co-Operative
loan receivables are disclosed in Note 28.

The carrying amount of the Group and Co-Operative loan receivables as at 31 December 2023
was $23,884,452 (2022: $25,249,946).

The carrying amount of the Group and Co-Operative 31
December 2023 was $905,193 (2022: $1,381,353) and $83,656 (2022: $193,810) respectively.

(b) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

The Group depreciates the property, plant and equipment over their estimated useful lives, after
taking into account their estimated residual values, if any, using straight line method. The

riods that the Group intends

obtain from disposal of the asset, after deducting the estimated costs of disposal, if the assets
were already of the age and in the condition expected at the end of its useful life.



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

56     |     TCC Credit Co-operative 

TCC CREDIT CO-OPERATIVE LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTE TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 2023

Page 2

3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES, ASSUMPTIONS AND JUDGMENTS (Continued)

3.2 Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(b) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Management reviews the estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment at the end of
each financial year end. During the financial year, the management determined that the useful
lives of property, plant and equipment are appropriate, and no revision required.

(c) Useful life of investment properties

The Group depreciates the investment properties over their estimated useful lives, after taking
into account their estimated residual values, if any, using straight line method. The estimated

future economic investment properties. The residual values

of the asset, after deducting the estimated costs of disposal, if the assets were already of the
age and in the condition expected at the end of its useful life.

Management reviews the estimated useful lives of investment properties at the end of each
financial year end. During the financial year, the management determined that the useful lives
of investment property are appropriate, and no revision required.

(d) Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the
cash- -in-use
calculation requires the entity to estimate the future cash flows expected to ar ise from the
CGU and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate present value. The carrying amount
of goodwill as at 31 December 2023 was $686,972 (2022: $686,972).

4.

Group and Co-Operative
2023 2022

$ $

Balance as at 1 January 29,442,169 30,769,480
Additions during the financial year 2,493,997 2,496,579
Withdrawals during the financial year (3,418,843) (3,823,890)
Balance as at 31 December 28,517,323 29,442,169

The above represents savings in the subscription account. Ordinary members must deposit a minimum 
of $10 per month into the subscription account. The maximum monthly deposit to this account shall be 
decided by the management committee.

A member may with the approval of the management committee be allowed to withdraw an amount not 

to maintenance of a minimum accumulated balance of $1,000. The management committee have the 
discretion to allow greater proportion of funds to be withdrawn (including minimum sum), accept shorter 
notice or to refuse such withdrawals.
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5. RESERVE FUND

Group Co-Operative
2023 2022 2023 2022

$ $ $ $

Balance at 1 January and 31 December 2,724,226 2,724,226 2,650,197 2,650,196

6. COMMON GOOD FUND

Group and Co-Operative
2023 2022

$ $

Balance as at 1 January 488,881 474,200
Fund given out (151,793) (185,319)
Addition 300,000 200,000
Balance as at 31 December 637,088 488,881

This fund was established to provide welfare benefits to the Co-Operative members.

7.

Group and Co-Operative
2023 2022

$ $
Savings deposits
Balance as at 1 January 48,109,456 48,668,936
Deposits received 10,557,892 10,823,320
Withdrawals (11,449,333) (11,382,800)

Balance as at 31 December 47,218,015 48,109,456

Interest rates for savings are charged at 0.125% to 0.25% per annum (2022: 0.125% to 0.25% per 
annum). 

8. CENTRAL CO-OPERATIVE FUND CONTRIBUTION

Group and Co-
Operative

Co-Operative

2023 2022 2023 2022
$ $ $ $

Central Co-Operative fund 165,838 208,325 146,814 190,433

Pursuant to Section 71(2) of the Co-Operative Societies Act, Chapter 62 the Group contributes 5% of 
the first $500,000 of the profit from its operations and 20% of its profit in excess of $500,000 to the 
Central Co-Operative Fund. Contribution from operations is subject to adjustment for non-deductible 
amounts as per guidelines from the Registry of Co-Operative Societies and the amount is due to be 
paid out in next financial year.
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9. OTHER PAYABLES

Group Co-Operative
2023 2022 2023 2022

$ $ $ $

deposits 1,208 1,208 1,208 1,208
Unclaimed balances of members 195,434 190,230 195,435 190,230
Other payables 854,517 796,188 535,396 377,658

1,051,159 987,626 732,039 569,096
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10. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Group Freehold 
land Building

Property 
improvements

Computer
hardware

Furniture 
and fixtures

Office 
equipment Total

2023: $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Cost
As at 1 January 2023 3,094,664 2,465,229 2,228,269 292,392 97,752 113,520 8,291,826
Additions 15,819,600 3,575,000 - 15,818 5,976 17,821 19,434,215
Written off - - - (22,259) (3,350) (4,331) (29,940)
As at 31 December 2023 18,914,264 6,040,229 2,228,269 285,951 100,378 127,010 27,696,101

Accumulated depreciation
As at 1 January 2023 - 2,465,229 2,228,269 201,658 75,361 84,973 5,055,490
Depreciation charge for the year - - - 40,928 16,090 20,190 77,208
Written off - - - (22,259) (3,350) (4,331) (29,940)
As at 31 December 2023 - 2,465,229 2,228,269 220,327 88,101 100,832 5,102,758

Carrying amount
As at 31 December 2023 18,914,264 3,575,000 - 65,624 12,277 26,178 22,593,343
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10. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Group Freehold 
land Building

Property 
improvements

Computer 
hardware

Furniture 
and fixtures

Office 
equipment Total

2022: $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Cost
As at 1 January 2022 3,094,664 2,465,229 2,228,269 271,721 173,078 103,138 8,336,099
Additions - - - 24,428 3,048 10,383 37,859
Written off - - - (3,757) (78,374) - (82,131)
As at 31 December 2022 3,094,664 2,465,229 2,228,269 292,392 97,752 113,521 8,291,827

Accumulated depreciation
As at 1 January 2022 - 2,465,229 2,228,269 158,276 133,158 63,705 5,048,637
Depreciation charge for the year - - - 47,139 20,577 21,268 88,984
Written off - - - (3,757) (78,374) - (82,131)
As at 31 December 2022 - 2,465,229 2,228,269 201,658 75,361 84,973 5,055,490

Carrying amount
As at 31 December 2022 3,094,664 - - 90,734 22,391 28,548 3,236,337
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10. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Co-Operative Freehold 
land Building

Property 
improvements

Computer 
hardware

Furniture 
and fixtures

Office 
equipment Total

2023: $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Cost
As at 1 January 2023 3,094,664 2,465,229 2,228,269 189,527 23,860 44,270 8,045,819
Additions 15,819,600 3,575,000 - 9,631 5,976 17,821 19,428,028
Written-off - - - (22,259) (3,350) (4,331) (29,940)
As at 31 December 2023 18,914,264 6,040,229 2,228,269 176,899 26,486 57,760 27,443,907

Accumulated depreciation
As at 1 January 2023 - 2,465,229 2,228,269 145,155 13,910 29,407 4,881,970
Depreciation charge for the year - - - 25,263 4,319 7,552 37,134
Written off - - - (22,259) (3,350) (4,331) (29,940)
As at 31 December 2023 - 2,465,229 2,228,269 148,159 14,879 32,628 4,889,164

Carrying amount
As at 31 December 2023 18,914,264 3,575,000 - 28,740 11,607 25,132 22,554,743
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10. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Co-Operative Freehold 
land Building

Property 
improvements

Computer 
hardware

Furniture 
and fixtures

Office 
equipment Total

2022: $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Cost
As at 1 January 2022 3,094,664 2,465,229 2,228,269 172,698 96,001 35,465 8,092,326
Additions - - - 16,829 3,050 8,805 28,684
Written-off - - - - (75,191) - (75,191)
As at 31 December 2022 3,094,664 2,465,229 2,228,269 189,527 23,860 44,270 8,045,819

Accumulated depreciation
As at 1 January 2022 - 2,465,229 2,228,269 111,630 84,593 21,926 4,911,647
Depreciation charge for the year - - - 33,525 4,507 7,481 45,513
Written off - - - - (75,190) - (75,190)
As at 31 December 2022 - 2,465,229 2,228,269 145,155 13,910 29,407 4,881,970

Carrying amount
As at 31 December 2022 3,094,664 - - 44,372 9,950 14,863 3,163,849
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10. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Location, cost and carrying values of all freehold:

Group and Co-Operative
2023 2022

Cost
Carrying 

value
Fair Value

Cost
Carrying 

value
Fair 

Value
$ $ $ $ $ $

95/97 Killiney 
Road
- Land 1,472,105 1,472,105 5,676,000 1,472,105 1,472,105 5,550,000
- Building 2,336,825 - 2,924,000 2,336,825 - 2,950,000

3,808,930 1,472,105 8,600,000 3,808,930 1,472,105 8,500,000

99 Killiney Road
- Land 1,622,559 1,622,559 3,535,000 1,622,559 1,622,559 3,480,000
- Building 128,404 - 1,515,000 128,404 - 1,520,000

1,750,963 1,622,559 5,050,000 1,750,963 1,622,559 5,000,000

466 Serangoon 
Road
- Land 15,819,600 - 12,925,000 - - -
- Building 3,575,000 3,575,000

19,394,600 - 16,500,000 - - -

Total land value 18,914,264 18,914,264 20,761,000 3,094,664 3,094,664 9,030,000
Total building 
value 6,040,229 3,575,000 8,014,000 2,465,229 - 4,470,000
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11. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Group
2023 2022

$ $
The software

Cost
As at beginning of the year 492,792 406,956
Additions - 85,836
As at end of the year 492,792 492,792

Accumulated depreciation 
As at beginning of the year 254,682 172,470
Depreciation of current year 88,675 82,212
As at end of the year 343,357 254,682

Carrying amount
As at year end 149,435 238,110

Group
2023 2022

$ $

Customer contract (Note 16) 325,547 325,547

Total intangible assets 474,982 563,657
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12. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
Group and Co-Operative

2023 2022
Killiney Road Freehold 

land Building
Freehold 

land Building
$ $ $ $

Cost
As at beginning of the year 1,538,190 109,870 1,538,190 109,870
Additions - - - -
As at end of the year 1,538,190 109,870 1,538,190 109,870

Accumulated depreciation 
As at beginning of the year - 109,870 - 109,870
Depreciation of current year - - - -
As at end of the year - 109,870 - 109,870

Carrying amount
As at year end 1,538,190 - 1,538,190 -

Fair value 4,650,000 800,000 4,600,000 800,000

Location: Site area (Sq. Ft) Tenure
93, Killiney Road, Singapore 239537 1,018 Freehold

Jalan Sultan Group and Co-Operative
2023 2022

$ $

Cost
As at 1 January 495,134 495,134
Additions - -
As at 31 December 495,134 495,134

Accumulated depreciation 
As at 1 January 121,783 108,603
Additions 13,180 13,180
As at 31 December 134,963 121,783

Carrying amount
As at 31 December 360,171 373,351

Fair value 850,000 800,000

Location: Site area (Sq. Ft) Tenure
200, Jalan Sultan, #10-06 Textile Centre, Singapore 199018 882 99 years

2023 2022
$ $

Total investment properties 1,898,361 1,911,541

The investment properties of the Group were leased to tenants under operating leases. The rental 
income from investment properties is $177,600 (2022: $151,500). The property tax incurred on the 
investment properties is $34,043 (2022: $35,939).
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13. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Lease property Group
2023 2022

$ $
Cost
At beginning of the financial year 54,599 125,940
Additions - 54,599
Write-off - (125,940)
At end of the financial year 54,599 54,599

Accumulated depreciation
At beginning of the financial year 11,375 100,740
Depreciation charge for the financial year 27,300 11,375
Write-off - (100,740)
At end of the financial year 38,675 11,375

Carrying amount
At end of the financial year 15,924 43,224

14. FINANCIAL ASSETS

Group and Co-Operative
2023 2022

$ $
Fair value through profit or loss
Quoted equity 1,010,671 959,931
Quoted bond - Singapore - -

1,010,671 959,931

Fair value through other comprehensive income
Unquoted equity Singapore  519,755 769,755

1,530,426 1,729,686

Movement during the financial year:
Balance at 1 January 1,729,686 1,455,512
Addition 22,711 200,593
Disposed during the financial year (259,884) -
Fair value changes during the financial year (Note 21 and 22) 37,913 73,581
Balance at 31 December 1,530,426 1,729,686

Equity investment are quoted in Singapore.

The carrying amount of financial assets were denominated in Singapore Dollar.

The quoted investments are stated at fair value based on available market price as at financial year 
end.

Investments in quoted bond have effective interest rates approximately 2.5% (2022: 2.5%) per annual
and have maturity dates ranging from 5 to 12 years (2022: 5-12 years).
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15. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES

Co-Operative
2023 2022

$ $

At beginning of the financial year 1,170,000 1,170,000
Acquisition of unquoted equity shares - -
At end of the financial year 1,170,000 1,170,000

The details of the subsidiaries are as follows:

Name of subsidiaries Principal activities
Percentage of 

equity held Cost of investments

2023 2022 2023 2022
% % $ $

Held by the Co-Operative:

Secureguard Security Services 
Co-Operative Limited

Security related 
services 99.47 99.64 1,170,000 1,170,000

Held by the Secureguard Security Services Co-Operative Ltd:

Security Masters Pte Ltd Security related 
services 100 100 2,810,808 2,810,808
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16. GOODWILL

Acquisition of subsidiary

On 31 August 2019, the subsidiary, Secureguard Security Services Co-Operative Ltd, acquired 100%

wholly owned subsidiary of the Co-Operative.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Security Masters Pte Ltd as at the date of
acquisition were:

Fair value as at 
31 December 

2023

Fair value as at 
31 December 

2022
$ $

Cash and bank balance 798,947 798,947
Trade and other receivables 1,254,441 1,254,441

2,053,388 2,053,388

Property, Plant and Equipment 53,728 53,728
Right of Use Asset 35,535 35,535
Customer contracts (Note 11) 325,547 325,547

414,810 414,810

Total Assets 2,468,198 2,468,198

Trade payables 46,178 46,178
Other payables 242,842 242,842
Deferred tax liabilities 55,342 55,342
Total liabilities 344,362 344,362

Net identifiable assets at fair value 2,123,836 2,123,836

Consideration for acquisition of 100% equity interest
- Cash consideration paid on 9 September 2019 1,000,000 1,000,000
- Cash consideration paid on 15 November 2019 634,247 634,247
- Cash consideration paid during year 2020 1,150,441 1,150,441
- Cash consideration paid during year 2022 26,120 26,120

Total purchase consideration 2,810,808 2,810,808

Goodwill 686,972 686,972

Impairment of goodwill

The Group is required to test, on an annual basis, whether goodwill has suffered any impairment. The 
recoverable amount is determined based on value in use calculations. The use of this method requires 
the estimation of future cash flows and the determination of a discount rate in order to calculate the 
present value of the cash flows.
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16. GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment of goodwill (Continued)

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined from value in use calculations based on cash flow
forecasts derived from the most recent financial budgets approved by management for the next 4 years.
The key assumptions for these value in use calculations are follows:

Group 2022 2023 2023 2024
% % % %

Discount rate 8.21 8.21 8.21 8.21
Operating margin 10 10 10 10
Growth rate 10 10 10 10

The growth rate and operating margin assumptions applies only to the period beyond the formal budgeted 
period with the value in use calculation based on an extrapolation of the budgeted cash flows for year four.

Operating margins have been based on past experience and future expectations in the light of anticipated 
economic and market conditions. Discount rates are based on the Group's beta adjusted to reflect 
management's assessment of specific risks related to the cash generating unit.

Acquisition-related cost

Acquisition-
comprehensive income and in operating cash flows in the consolidated statement of cash flows.

Contingent consideration

As part of the purchase agreement, the subsidiary of the Co-Operative, Secureguard Security Services 
Co-Operative Ltd, agreed to pay the former owners of Security Masters Pte Ltd the remaining purchase 
consideration of $1,218,453 upon the receipt of the trade receivables from the customers.

Acquired trade and other receivables

Total receivables comprise of trade and non-trade receivables, with fair value of $1,129,039 and $107,506 
respectively. Their gross amounts are $1,129,039 and $107,506 respectively. At the acquisition date, the 
full contractual amounts of other receivables can be collected.

Goodwill arising from acquisition:

Goodwill comprises the fair value of expected synergies arising from the acquisition and is allocated 
entirely to Security Masters Ltd, which is in the security industry. None of the goodwill is expected to be 
deductible for tax purpose. 
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17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Group Co-Operative
2023 2022 2023 2022

$ $ $ $

Trade receivables
- External parties 642,003 414,630 - -
- Related parties 98,700 706,253 - -

740,703 1,120,883 - -
Other receivables
Prepayment 11,344 94,579 30,590 77,312
Other receivables 109,998 120,173 47,576 109,748
Deposits 43,148 45,718 5,490 6,750

164,490 260,470 83,656 193,810

Total trade and other receivables 905,193 1,381,353 83,656 193,810

Trade receivables are non- . They are 
recognised at their original invoice amounts which represents their fair values on initial recognition.

Receivables that are past due but not impaired

The Group had trade receivables amounting to $782,596 (2022: $622,382) that were past due at 
the reporting date but not impaired. These receivables were unsecured and the analysis of their 
aging at the reporting date was as follows:

Group and Co-Operative
2023 2022

$ $
Trade receivables past due:
- Less than 30 days 503,777 269,144
- 31 to 60 days 183,116 131,618
- 60 to 90 days 19,100 147,413
- More than 90 days 76,603 74,207

782,596 622,382
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17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Trade receivables that are impaired

The Group had trade receivables that are impaired at the end of the reporting period and the
movement of the provision accounts are as follows:

Group and Co-Operative
2023 2022

$ $
Movement in the provision 
At beginning of the financial year - -
- Bad debt recovered - -
At end of the financial year - -

Trade receivables that are individually determined to be impaired at the end of the financial year 
relate to debtors that are in significant financial difficulties and have defaulted on payments. 

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has provided provision of $Nil (2022: $ Nil) for trade 
receivables on related parties and third parties. This amount has been outstanding for over at least 
60 days.

The carrying amount of trade and other receivables were denominated in Singapore Dollar.

18. LOANS TO MEMBERS

Group and Co-Operative
2023 2022

$ $

Loans to members 27,970,078 28,937,633
Less: Allowance for expected credit loss (4,085,626) (4,136,512)
Loans to members, net 23,884,452 24,801,121
Less: Current portion of loans to members (7,259,706) (7,106,676)
Non-Current portion of loans to members 16,624,746 17,694,445

The loans to members by the Co-Operative are interest bearing at the range of 2.9% to 6.99% (2022:
2.9% to 6.99%) per annum and will be repayable by monthly installments over the original period from 
3 to 5 years (2022: 3 to 5 years).
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18. LOANS TO MEMBERS (Continued)

The movement in the allowance for impairment loss account is as follows:

Group and Co-Operative
2023 2022

$ $

Balance at 1 January 4,136,512 3,797,635
Written off during the year (664,913) (81,328)
Waiver on interest (12,744) (28,620)
Provision for Expected Credit Loss for current year (Note 22) 626,771 448,825
Balance at 31 December 4,085,626 4,136,512

Loans breakdown by interest rate basis and type of loans:

Group and Co-Operative
2023 2022

$ $
Interest rate basis
Flat rate 13,685,913 11,915,206
Monthly rate 14,284,165 17,022,427

27,970,078 28,937,633

Group and Co-Operative
2023 2022

$ $
Type of loans
Education 1,674,378 1,263,493
Secured Against Property 14,284,165 17,022,427
Renovation 2,045,133 1,773,052
Secured Against Savings 52,308 70,454
Personal 9,914,094 8,808,207

27,970,078 28,937,633

The carrying amount of loan to members were denominated in Singapore Dollar.

19. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Group Co-Operative
2023 2022 2023 2022

$ $ $ $

Cash at bank 8,174,159 4,947,825 5,701,468 2,367,701
Cash in hand 146,728 138,590 141,480 138,590

8,320,887 5,086,415 5,842,948 2,506,291
Short- term deposits 33,461,642 54,788,780 32,510,546 54,486,966

41,782,529 59,875,195 38,353,494 56,993,257

Short term deposits bear interest at an average effective interest rate of 3.4% (2022: 0.4%) per annum 
and has a maturity period of 1 year (2022: 1 year) from the financial year end. 
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19. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Continued)

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, the cash and cash equivalents comprise of the following:

Group
2023 2022

$ $

Cash and cash equivalents 41,782,529 59,875,195
Less: Short-term deposits (33,461,642) (54,788,780)

8,320,887 5,086,415

The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents were denominated in Singapore Dollar.

20. REVENUE

Disaggregation of revenue

Group
2023 2022

$ $
Loans to members 1,768,819 1,871,322
Savings and short-term deposits with banks 1,317,964 552,185

3,086,783 2,423,507
Security services fee 5,242,417 3,097,767

8,329,200 5,521,274

Timing of transfer of good or service
At a point in time - -
Over time 8,329,200 5,521,274

8,329,200 5,521,274

The Group mainly generate revenue by earning interest income of loan to members and fee from 
security services provided by the subsidiaries. 

There is no significant judgement and method used in estimating revenue, no contract liabilities, 
refund liabilities, and no remaining performance obligations, except that the subsidiaries have to 
fulfil contractual obligation to supply grands to remaining contract period which is range from 1 to 
2 years.
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21. OTHER INCOME

Group
2023 2022

$ $

Administrative fee income 201,359 197,635
Bad debts recovered 144,118 183,462
Dividends from quoted investments 57,380 109,984
Dividends from unquoted investments 26,645 43,242
Giro rejection administration income 47,630 27,765
Interest income 12,007 5,893
Gain on disposal of financial assets 1,272,673 -
Gain on fair value through profit or loss (Note 14)
Miscellaneous income

37,913
129,641

133,555
174,546

Penalty fee income loan repayment 266,108 294,389
Rental income 179,000 151,500
Government grants 449,900 325,715

2,824,374 1,647,686

22. OTHER EXPENSES

Group
2023 2022

$ $

Annual general meeting expenses 55,338 63,033
Bank service charges 73,490 74,751
Computer maintenance expenses 180,940 198,641
Consultancy service 4,850 9,160
Dinner and Dance expenses 285,250 -
Loss on fair value through profit or loss (Note 14) - 59,974
Legal and professional fee 9,134 3,856
Maintenance expenses 74,065 49,805
Miscellaneous expenses 16,362 62,895
Postage, printing and stationeries 67,631 76,082
Provision for doubtful loan to members (Note 18) 626,771 448,825
Utility charges 60,259 56,120
Others 552,331 302,827

2,006,421 1,405,969

23. DIVIDENDS

The dividend of $877,706 for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: $$748,872) was paid by the 
Co-Operative after approval at the AGM and the amount was accounted for as appropriation in the 
general fund in the current financial year.
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24.

Group
2023 2022

$ $

Salaries and bonus 1,572,303 1,464,280
133,258 125,451

Foreign worker levy 21,893 17,752
Staff related expenses 130,068 179,768

1,857,522 1,787,251

25. LEASES

Lease receivable

The Group and Co-Operative leases out at a fixed monthly rental with lease agreements of 2 years
which is non-cancellable. No contingent rent is required to be paid under the lease agreements. Future
minimum lease receivables for the lease are as follows:

Group and Co-Operative
2023 2022

$ $

Within one year 177,600 174,800
After one year but not more than five years 132,000 132,000

309,600 306,800

Income recognised in profit or loss for the financial year ended 31 December 2023 amounted to 
$179,000 (2022: $151,500).

Lease deposit payable

The Co-Operative leases office space under non-cancellable operating lease agreements. 

The future minimum rental payable under non-cancellable operating leases contracted for at the 
reporting date but not recognised as liabilities, are as follows:

Group and Co-Operative
2023 2022

$ $

Within one year 16,448 43,501
16,448 43,501

Recognised as an expense in profit or loss for the financial year ended 31 December 2023 amounted 
to $27,300 (2022: $11,375).
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25. LEASES (Continued)

Lease liabilities Group
2023 2022

$ $

At beginning of the financial year 43,501 62,105
Addition lease liability during the year - 54,599
Write-off - (62,105)

43,501 54,599

Changes from financing cash flows:
- Repayments (27,053) (11,098)
- Interest paid (1,639) (857)

Non-cash changes:
- Interest expense 1,639 857
At end of the financial year 16,448 43,501

Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for office
subleasing 

the leased assets. There is lease contract that include extension options which are further 
discussed below.

The Group also has certain leases of machinery with lease terms of 12 months or less and leases 
- -

Carrying amounts of right-of-use assets

Lease property Group
2023 2022

$ $

At beginning of the financial year 43,224 25,200
Effect from acquisition from subsidiary - -
Write-off - (25,200)
Addition - 54,599
Depreciation for the financial year (27,300) (11,375)
At end of the financial year 15,924 43,224

Amounts recognised in profit or loss

Group
2023 2022

$ $

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 27,300 11,375
Interest expenses on lease liabilities 1,639 857
Total amount recognised in profit or loss 28,939 12,232



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

Annual Report 2023     |     77 

TCC CREDIT CO-OPERATIVE LIMITED AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

Page 4

25. LEASES (Continued)

Total cash outflow

The Group had total cash outflows for leases of $857 (2022: $857) which consist of repayment of an interest
on lease.

Extension options

The Group has lease contract that include extension options. This option is negotiated by management to
provide flexibility in managing the leased-

26. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

For the purposes of these financial statements, parties are considered to be related to the Group if the
Group has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the party or exercise significant influence over the party
in making financial and operating decisions, or vice versa, or where the Group and the party are subject to
common control. Related parties may be individuals or other entities.

(i) Key management personnel compensation

Group Co-Operative
2023 2022 2023 2022

$ $ $ $

Key management personnel salary, 
bonuses, and benefits 252,400 269,400 135,900 156,130
Employer's contribution to Central 
Provident Fund 15,463 20,918 8,554 12,798

112,000 142,000 80,000 70,000
379,863 432,318 224,454 238,928

Key management personnel of the Group and Co-Operative are those persons having those 
authority and responsibilities for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group 
and Co-Operative.

(ii) transactions

Significant transactions with related parties took place at terms agreed between the parties
during the financial year are as follows:

Group Co-Operative
2023 2022 2023 2022

$ $ $ $
With related parties
Expenses charge by - (712,350) - -
Services charge to 721,200 677,400 - -

With subsidiaries
Managements fees charge to subsidiaries 36,000 36,000 36,000 36,000
Dividend received from subsidiaries 117,000 117,000 117,000 117,000
Rental income from a subsidiary - - - -
Payment on behalf - - - -
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27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group and Co-Operative
financial risks include credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk (including interest rate risk).

The management committee review and agree policies and procedures for the management of these risks, 
which are executed by the management team. It is and has been throughout the current and previous 
financial year, the Group and Co-Operative
shall be undertaken.

The following sections provide details regarding the Group and Co-Operative -
mentioned financial risks and the objectives, policies and processes for the management of   these risks.

There has been no change to the Group and Co-Operative
in which it manages and measures the risks.

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in a 
loss to the Group and Co-Operative. The Group and Co-Operative
primarily. For other financial assets (including investment securities and cash and cash equivalent), the 
Group and Co-Operative minimises credit risk by dealing exclusively with high credit rating 
counterparties.

The Group and Co-Operative has adopted a policy of dealing with creditworthy but appropriate collateral 
and surety. The Group and Co-Operative
financial condition and generally do require a collateral.

The Group and Co-Operative considers the probability of default upon initial recognition of asset and 
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout each 
reporting period.

The Group and Co-Operative has determined the default event on a financial asset to be when internal 
and/or external information indicates that the financial asset is unlikely to be received, which could 
include default of contractual payments due for more than 30 days, default of interest due for more than 
30 days or there is significant difficulty of the counterparty.

To minimise credit risk, the Group and Co-Operative has developed and maintained the Group and Co-
Operative
credit rating information is supplied by publicly available financial information and the Group and Co-
Operative Group and Co-
Operative considers available reasonable and supportive forward-looking information which includes 
the following indicators:

- Internal credit rating
- External credit rating
- Actual or expected significant adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that

- Actual or expected significant changes in the operating results of the debtor
- Significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same debtor
- Significant changes in the expected performance and behavior of the debtor, including changes in

the payment status of debtors in the group and changes in the operating results of the debtor.
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27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)

Regardless of the analysis above, a significant increase in credit risk is presumed if a debtor is more 
than 90 days past due in making contractual payment.

The Group and Co-Operative determined that its financial assets are credit-impaired when:

- There is significant difficulty of the debtor
- A breach of contract, such as a default or past due event
- It is becoming probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or another financial reorganisation
- There is a disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulty

The Group and Co-Operative categorises a receivable for potential write-off when a debtor fails to make 
contractual payments more than 24 months past due. Financial assets are written off when there is 
evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and the debtor has no realistic prospect 
of recovery.

The Co-Operative

Category Definition of category
Basis for 

recognizing 
expected credit loss 

I Counterparty has a low risk of default and does not have any 
past-due amounts.

12-month ECL

II Amount is more than 30 days past due or there has been    
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL not 
credit-impaired

III Amount is more than 30 days past due or there is evidence 
indicating the asset is credit-impaired (in default).

Lifetime ECL credit-
impaired

IV There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe 
financial difficulty and the debtor has no realistic prospect of 
recovery.

Amount is written off
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27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)

The table below details the credit quality of the Co-Operative
exposure to credit risk by credit risk rating categories:

Group Note Category

12-month
or lifetime

ECL

Gross 
carrying 
amount ECL

Net 
carrying 
amount

$ $ $
31 December 
2023

Loan to members 18 Note 1
Lifetime 

ECL 27,970,078 4,085,626 23,884,452

Trade receivables 17 Note 1
12-month

ECL 740,703 - 740,703

Other receivables 17 Note 2
12-month

ECL 164,490 - 164,490

4,085,626

31 December 
2022

Loan to members 18 Note 1
Lifetime 

ECL 29,174,684 4,373,562 24,801,122

Trade receivables 17 Note 1
12-month

ECL 1,120,883 - 1,120,883

Other receivables 17 Note 2
12-month

ECL 260,470 - 260,470

4,373,562

Co-Operative Note Category
12-month or
lifetime ECL

Gross 
carrying 
amount ECL

Net 
carrying 
amount

$ $ $
31 December 2023

Loan to members 18 Note 1 Lifetime ECL 27,970,078 4,085,626 23,884,452

Other receivables 17 Note 2
12-month

ECL 83,656 - 83,656

4,085,626

31 December 2022

Loan to members 18 Note 1 Lifetime ECL 29,174,684 4,373,562 24,801,122

Other receivables 17 Note 2
12-month

ECL 193,810 - 193,810

4,373,562
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27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables (Note 1)

For and trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach in FRS 109 to measure the 
loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group determines the ECL by using a provision matrix, estimated 
based on historical credit loss experience based on the past due status of the debtors, adjusted as 
appropriate to reflect current conditions and estimates of future economic conditions. Accordingly, the 
credit risk profile of trade receivables is presented based on their past due status in terms of the 
provision matrix.

Other receivables (Note 2)

The Group assessed the latest performance and financial position of the counterparties, adjusted for 
the future outlook of the industry in which the counterparties operate in, and concluded that there has 
been no significant increase in the credit risk since the initial recognition of the financial assets. 
Accordingly, the Group measured the impairment loss allowance using 12-month ECL and determined 
that the ECL is insignificant.

Group and Co-operative
Loan to members

Days past due

months
3 - 6

months
6 -12

months >12 months Collateral 
loan Total

$ $ $ $ $ $
31 December 2023
Total gross carrying amount 1,618,040 833,568 1,204,304 2,627,965 10,327,128 16,611,005
ECL amount 16,841 138,789 840,326 2,627,963 461,707 4,085,626

12,525,379

months
3 - 6

months
6 -12

months >12 months Collateral 
Loan Total

31 December 2022
Total gross carrying amount 281,310 273,988 1,636,463 1,740,648 15,507,618 19,440,027
ECL amount 2,509 64,018 1,170,850 1,740,648 1,158,486 4,136,511

15,303,516

The current portion of loan to members is $7,259,706 (2022: $7,106,676) which is not past due. 
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27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)

Group
Trade receivables

Days past due

Current
Less than 

30 days
31 60

days
60 90

days 
More than 

90 days Total

$ $ $ $ $ $
31 December 2023
Total gross carrying amount 157,991 345,785 183,116 19,100 34,711 740,703
ECL amount - - - - - -

740,703

Current
Less than 

30 days
31 60

days
60 90

days 
More than 

90 days Total

31 December 2022
Total gross carrying amount 498,501 269,144 131,618 147,413 74,207 1,120,883
ECL amount - - - - - -

1,120,883

Information regarding loss allowance movement of loan to members is disclosed in Note 18.

Excessive risk concentration

Concentrations arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities, or 
activities in the same geographical region, or have economic features that would cause their ability to 
meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other 
conditions. Concentrations indicate the relative sensitivity of the performance to developments 
affecting a particular industry.

Exposure to credit risk

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk other than those balances with holding Co-
Operative and related companies comprising Nil% (2020: 19%) of trade receivables. The Group has 
credit policies and procedures in place to minimise and mitigate its credit risk exposure
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27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk refers to the risk that the Group will encounter difficulties in meeting its short-term 
obligations due to shortage of funds. The exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily from 
mismatches of the maturities of financial assets and liabilities. It is managed by matching the payment 
and receipt cycles. The objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and 
flexibility through the use of stand- by credit facilities. The Group finances its working capital 
requirements funds generated from operations. The directors are satisfied that funds are available to 
finance the operations of the Group.

The table below summarizes the maturity profile of the financial assets and liabilities at the 
reporting date based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations.

Within one year
Group Co-Operative

2023 2022 2023 2022
$ $ $ $

47,218,016 48,109,456 47,218,016 48,109,456
Other payables 1,051,159 987,626 732,039 569,096

Balance at 31 December 48,269,175 49,097,082 47,950,055 48,678,552

(c) Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign exchange rates 
will affect the Co-Operative
control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimizing the return on risk.

(d) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Co-Operative
instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Co-Operative
to interest rate risk arises primarily from their loan to holding Co-Operative, cash and cash equivalents 
and borrowings.

The Co-Operative does not expect any significant effect on the Co-Operative
from the effects of reasonably possible changes to interest rates on interest bearing financial 
instruments at the end of the financial year.
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27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(d) Interest rate risk (Continued)

Variable rates Fixed rates
Group Less than 

12 months
More than 

1 year
Less than 
12 months

More than 
1 year Total

$ $ $ $ $
At 31 December 2023

Assets
Cash and cash 

Equivalents 8,320,887 - 33,461,642 - 41,782,529
Loans to members - - 7,259,706 16,624,746 23,884,452

Liabilities
- - 47,218,016 - 47,218,016

Variable rates Fixed rates
Group Less than 

12 months
More than 

1 year
Less than 
12 months

More than 
1 year Total

$ $ $ $ $
At 31 December 2022

Assets
Cash and cash 

equivalents 43,985,189 - 14,155,073 - 58,140,262
Loans to members - - 6,775,884 21,741,174 28,517,058

Liabilities
- - 48,668,936 - 48,668,936

Variable rates Fixed rates
Co-Operative Less than 

12 months
More than 

1 year
Less than 
12 months

More than 
1 year Total

$ $ $ $ $
At 31 December 
2023

Assets
Cash and cash 

equivalents 5,842,948 - 32,510,546 - 38,353,494
Loans to members 7,259,706 16,624,746 23,884,452

Liabilities
- - 47,218,016 - 47,218,016
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27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(d) Interest rate risk (Continued)

Variable rates Fixed rates
Co-Operative Less than 

12 months
More than 

1 year
Less than 
12 months

More than 
1 year Total

$ $ $ $ $
At 31 December 2022

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 40,911,386 - 14,155,073 - 55,066,459
Loans to members - - 6,775,884 21,741,174 28,517,058

Liabilities
- - 48,668,936 - 48,668,936

(e) Foreign currency risk

Exposure for foreign currency is not material to the Group and Co-Operative.

28 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities with a maturity of less than one year are assumed 
to approximate their fair values because of the short period to maturity. The fair value of quoted financial 
assets is determined by reference to their quoted market prices at the financial year end date. 

The Group classifies fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of 
the inputs used in making the measurements. 

The following table presents assets and liabilities measured at fair value and classified by level of the 
following fair value measurement hierarchy:

(a) quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1);
(b) inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,

either directly (as is prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices) (Level 2);
(c) inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs)

(Level 3).

Investments in unquoted equity investments are made in fellow Co-Operatives and Group is able to sell 
to respective Co-Operative based on cost price. Hence, fair value of investment is equal to cost of 
investment. There is no movement on unquoted equity investment. 

Group and Co-Operative Carrying amount Fair value measurement using:
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

$ $ $ $
2023

Fair value through profit or loss
-Quoted equities 1,010,671 1,010,671 - -
-Quoted bonds - - - -

Fair value through other comprehensive income
-Unquoted equity 519,755 - - 519,755

Total 1,530,426 1,010,671 - 519,755
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28 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (Continued)

Group and Co-Operative
Carrying 
amount Fair value measurement using:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
$ $ $ $

2022

Fair value through profit or loss
-Quoted equities 959,931 959,931 - -
-Quoted bonds - - - -

Fair value through other comprehensive income
-Unquoted equity 769,755 - - 769,755
Total 1,729,686 959,931 - 769,755

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, fixed deposits, trade and other receivables, 

instruments are relatively short-term in nature. 

This investment is not quoted on any market and do not have any comparable industry peers. In addition, 
the variability in the range of reasonable fair value estimates derived from valuation techniques is 
significant.

29 CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND OBJECTIVES

The primary objective of the Group capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit 
rating and net current asset position in order to support its business and maximize shareholder value. 
The capital structure of the Group comprises issued share capital and retained earnings.

The Co-Operative manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of change in 
economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend 
payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made 
to the objectives, policies or processes during the financial years ended 31 December 2023 and 31 
December 2022.
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30 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amount of the different categories of financial instruments is as disclosed on the face of 
the statement of financial position, except for the following:

Group Co-Operative
2023 2022 2023 2022

$ $ $ $
Fair value through profit and loss

Quoted equity 1,010,671 959,931 1,010,671 959,931
Quoted bond - - - -

1,010,671 959,931 1,010,671 959,931

Fair value through other comprehensive income

Unquoted equity 519,755 769,755 519,755 769,755

Financial assets measured at amortised cost

Loan to members 23,884,452 24,801,121 23,884,452 24,801,121
Trade and other receivables 905,193 1,381,353 83,656 193,810
Cash and cash equivalents 41,782,529 59,875,195 38,353,494 56,993,257

66,572,174 86,057,669 62,321,602 81,988,188

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

47,218,016 48,109,456 47,218,016 48,109,456
Other payables 1,051,159 987,626 732,039 569,096

48,269,175 49,097,082 47,950,055 48,678,552

31 AUTHORISATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR ISSUE 

The financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2023 were authorized for issue in 
accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors of the Co-Operative

.
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Co-Operative
2023 2022

$ $

Revenue

Interest income:
Loans to members 1,768,819 1,871,322
Savings and fixed deposits with banks 1,317,964 552,185

3,086,783 2,423,507
Interest expense:

(59,740) (61,286)
(59,740) (61,286)

Other operating income:
Administrative fee income 201,359 197,635
Giro rejection administration income 47,630 27,765
Gross dividends from quoted investments 57,380 109,984
Gross dividends from unquoted investments 26,645 43,242
Miscellaneous income 127,192 149,670
Penalty fee income - loan repayment 266,108 294,389
Rental income 179,000 151,500
Gain on fair value through profit or loss
Gain on disposal of financial assets

37,913
1,272,673

133,555
-

Bad debts recovered 144,118 183,462
2,360,018 1,291,202

Income from Subsidiaries 153,000 153,000
Total other operating income 2,513,018 1,444,202

Other operating expenses (see APPENDIX A) (1,202,217) (793,530)
(1,194,216) (1,101,817)

Depreciation for property, plant and equipment (37,134) (45,513)
Amortisation for intangible assets (84,973) (79,393)
Depreciation for investment properties (13,180) (13,180)
Provision for Expected Credit Loss (626,771) (448,825)
Operating surplus for the financial year 2,381,570 1,324,165
Contribution to Central Co-Operative Fund (146,814) (190,433)
Net operating surplus for the financial year 2,234,756 1,133,732
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Co-Operative
2023 2022

$ $
Advertising and sponsorship 7,279 7,294
Affiliation fee 3,842 225
Audit fee 71,300 30,000
Dinner and Dance expenses 285,250 -
Annual general meeting expenses 53,754 61,775
Bank charges 70,174 69,808
Board expenses 29,236 15,986
Computer maintenance 180,940 198,641
Co-operative functions 11,450 -
Credit assessment/review expense 13,150 11,778
Education and training 52,498 7,649
Insurance expense - 8,534
Legal and professional fee 23,809 3,856
Loss on fair value of financial assets - 59,974
Maintenance 39,739 45,930
Marketing expenses 62,153 20,454
Miscellaneous expenses 33,786 20,684
Postage, printing and stationery 94,153 71,942
Prizes for lucky draw 12,964 7,000
Promotional expenses 26,376 13,995
Property tax 34,043 35,939
Property Transaction expenses 500 6,700
Service charges 721 819
Storage expenses 13,464 16,291
Telephone charges 14,430 16,183
TOL license fee 514 513
Transport charges 10,111 9,192
Utility charges 56,581 52,368

1,202,217 793,530
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ESTIMATED EXPENDITURE FOR 2024

Budget Budget
Expenditure 2024 2023

$ $

Advertising and sponsorship               7,000 5,000 
Affiliation fee               4,000 5,000 
Annual general meeting expenses         120,000 120,000 
Anniversary Dinner -   160,000 
Area representatives' meeting expenses            50,000 65,000 
Audit fee            45,000 30,000 
Bank charges            75,000 75,000 
Building maintenance            50,000 55,000 
Computer maintenance         200,000 200,000 
Co-operative functions            15,000 20,000 
Corporate video/gifts            15,000 10,000 
CPF and Skill Development Levy contributions         150,000 140,000 
Interest expenses            60,000 60,000 
Legal and professional fee            10,000 5,000 
Marketing expenses            70,000 30,000 
Miscellaneous expenses            35,000 20,000 
Office equipment maintenance            20,000 5,000 
Postage, printing, and stationery         100,000 105,000 
Prize for lucky draw            15,000 15,000 
Property tax            65,000 35,000 
Credit assessment expenses            15,000 20,000 
Salaries and allowances         945,000 1,150,000 
Staff Insurance            25,000 20,000 
Staff Welfare            80,000 100,000 
Storage            15,000 15,000 
Telephone charges            17,000 20,000 
Training Board of Directors Expenses            40,000 20,000 
Transport charges            11,000 10,000 

Utility charges            60,000 55,000 

Total     2,314,000 2,570,000 

90     |     TCC Credit Co-operative 



APPROPRIATION OF SURPLUS FOR 2023

CLIENT NO. NAME LOAN BALANCE  ADDRESS 

 S$ 

9558 SELENA BTE SALIM              9,158.09  BLK 245, TAMPINES STREET 21 

37958 MOHAMED AZLI HAMZAH            16,311.74  BLK 329 JURONG EAST  

40171 WASEEM SOHAIL SEHGAL              8,298.28  BLK 150, BEDOK RESERVOIR ROAD 

18633 PACKRISAMY SUBRAMANIAM            51,417.30  29, BENGAWAN ROAD 

53952 NEO YU,              5,044.17  BLK 359, YISHUN RING ROAD 

57518 ROHINI D/O THIAGARAJAN              7,987.61  BLK 531, BEDOK NORTH ST 3 

51728 TUPAZ DAVID JUDE              8,672.38  BLK 413, BEDOK NORTH, AVE 2 

74664 KUAH HUN BOON            25,610.95  39, AMBER ROAD 

3109 NORAINI BTE MOHAMED DIN              7,457.31  BLK 174,YISHUN RING AVE 

11108 THESEIRA CLIVE              5,273.82  BLK 874 TAMPINES ST 84 

51090 MARCUS CRAIG RODRIGS              2,991.93  BLK 11 ST GRORGES 

20752 BORHAN BIN SAINI            14,331.96  BLK 201, JALAN LOYANG BESAR 

49252 FIONA NOELLA THOMAS              1,755.03  BLK 685C WOODLANDS DRIVE 

53760 SADESH KUMAR              8,869.85  BLK 116 HOUGANG AVE 1 

53102 CHUA LAY KEONG              9,035.96  BLK 79 INDUS RD 

5935 JAMIL  BIN SULEIMAN            12,000.69  BLK 842 TAMPINES ST 

5470 MOHD FADZILAH SAFUAN            22,024.87  BLK 249, COMPASSVALE ROAD 

Total          216,241.94 

S$

NET SURPLUS FROM OPERATIONS 2,234,756 

LESS: APPROPRIATION

DIVIDEND (877,706)

COMMON GOOD FUND (300,000)

HONORARIUM (80,000)

GENERAL FUND (977,050)

BAD DEBTS
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